FILED

SID J WHITE

FEB 2 19951

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT
By Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO: 84,791

FIRST STATE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

VS.

FIDELITY AND DEPOSIT COMPANY OF MARYLAND, as subrogee of COMMONWEALTH FEDERAL SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATION,

Res	oond	lent.
IVUO		

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ABRAMOWITZ & POMERANTZ, P.A.
Suite 101
7800 West Oakland Park Boulevard
Sunrise, FL 33351
and
CARUSO, BURLINGTON,
BOHN & COMPIANI, P.A.
Suite 3-A/Barristers Bldg.
1615 Forum Place
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
Tel: (407) 686-8010
Attorneys for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Fidelity & Deposit, as subrogee for Commonwealth Federal Savings & Loan Association ("Commonwealth S&L") sued to recover insurance proceeds from First State Insurance, which had issued a one million dollar property insurance policy to the Fountainebleau Racquet Club ("Fountainebleau") (R72-80). First State Insurance's policy listed Commonwealth S&L as the mortgagee on the insured property. The policy also provided that if it was cancelled or not renewed, First State Insurance would give the mortgagee 10 days notice before the cancellation or expiration date.

Fidelity & Deposit alleged that First State Insurance had attempted to cancel the policy by mailing a Notice of Cancellation to its insured, Fountainebleau, but had failed to mail a copy of the Notice of Cancellation to the mortgagee bank, Commonwealth S&L, as required by the insurance policy. Accordingly, it was Fidelity & Deposit's contention that First State Insurance had not effectively cancelled the policy of insurance as to the mortgagee, but that it still remained in force and effect on May 1, 1988, when the insured premises were totally destroyed by fire. Fidelity & Deposit claimed in three counts, i.e., breach of contract, declaratory relief, and estoppel, that it was entitled, as subrogee for Commonwealth S&L, to the insurance proceeds provided by First State Insurance's policy for the damage caused by the fire (R72-80).

First State Insurance filed an Answer and Affirmative Defense claiming that it had cancelled the policy in question for non-payment of premium effective October 1, 1987, prior to the destruction of the Fountainebleau by fire (R143-56). Alternatively, First

State Insurance alleged, that even if it had not given written notice of cancellation to Commonwealth S&L, as required by the policy, Commonwealth S&L had received actual notice of that cancellation four months thereafter, but prior to the fire (R143-46).

Fidelity & Deposit's Reply alleged, inter alia, that oral notice of cancellation is insufficient under Florida law (R159-60).

The trial court granted summary judgment for Fidelity & Deposit on the issue of insurance coverage, finding that First State Insurance had not given the mortgagee written notice of cancellation, as required by the policy, thereby rejecting the argument that oral notice of cancellation was sufficient (R212).

The parties stipulated that the recoverable damages under First State Insurance's policy were \$591,411.79, plus interest from December 8, 1988 (R215-17), and a Final Judgment in favor of Fidelity & Deposit was entered in that amount (R218-19).

First State Insurance appealed to the Fourth District, which not only reversed the summary judgment, but ordered that judgment be entered in First State Insurance's favor. Although the court found that a factual dispute existed as to whether written notice of cancellation had been given the mortgagee, the court found that that dispute was not material since oral notice of cancellation received by Commonwealth S&L from a third party four months after the policy was cancelled, but before the fire occurred, was sufficient.

The Fourth District held that strict compliance with the notice requirements could be excused under certain circumstances, based upon its prior decision in FRAZIER v.

STANDARD GUARANTY INS. CO., 382 So.2d 392 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980), and this Court's decision in CAT 'N FIDDLE v. CENTURY INS. CO., 213 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1968). Such circumstances, the Fourth District ruled, include situations where oral notice of cancellation is given. Under the Fourth District's decision, henceforth an insurer in this State is relieved of its obligation to strictly comply with its contractual and statutory requirements to give written notice of cancellation as a prerequisite to effective cancellation of its insurance policy, so long as oral notice of cancellation is given the mortgagee, or the insured, prior to the loss. The Fourth District's ruling is contrary to well-established law in this State. The fact that an insured has received oral notice of cancellation of an insurance policy has never been held sufficient to relieve an insurer of its obligation to give written notice of cancellation in order for the cancellation to be effective.

The Fourth District certified the following issue to this Court as one of great public importance:

MAY A MORTGAGEE WHO RECEIVES ACTUAL NOTICE OF THE CANCELLATION OF A POLICY OF INSURANCE ON THE MORTGAGED PROPERTY BE ESTOPPED FROM RELYING ON THE STATUTORY AND CONTRACTUAL PROVISIONS REQUIRING WRITTEN NOTICE?

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Commonwealth S&L held a \$1,750,000 mortgage on the Fountainebleau. It was initially listed as the mortgagee on an INA insurance policy on the property, which was replaced by First State Insurance's policy covering the property. Commonwealth S&L was also listed as the mortgagee on that insurance policy (A33), which specifically provided in provision F(2)(f) (A32):

- f. If we cancel this policy, we will give <u>written notice</u> to the mortgage holder at least:
- (1) 10 days before the effective date of cancellation if we cancel for non-payment of premium; or
- (2) 30 days before the effective date of cancellation if we cancel for any other reason. (emphasis added).

The premiums for the First State Insurance policy were financed by Fountainebleau through a premium finance company, Tifco, Inc. (Miller D13). Fountainebleau gave Tifco a power of attorney to direct First State Insurance to cancel the policy for non-payment of premiums (A1).

On May 28, 1987, Tifco advised First State Insurance to cancel Fountainebleau's policy for non-payment of premiums (A3). This resulted in First State Insurance, through its underwriter/agent Cameron & Colby, sending a June 10, 1987 written Notice of Cancellation for non-payment of premium to both the insured (Fountainebleau), and the mortgagee (Commonwealth S&L). Cameron & Colby's file contained two "Receipts for Certified Mail" that were date-stamped by the post office confirming that Notices of

Cancellation had been sent to both the insured and the mortgagee (A6,Miller D42). Subsequently, the insured paid the premiums and the policy was reinstated, with no lapse in coverage (Miller D42-43).

On September 22, 1987, Tifco again advised First State Insurance to cancel Fountainebleau's policy for non-payment of premiums (A7,Miller D46). Accordingly, on October 1, 1987, First State Insurance's underwriter/agent, Cameron & Colby, again sent Fountainebleau a Notice of Cancellation for non-payment. Cameron & Colby's file contained a Receipt for Certified Mail date-stamped by the post office reflecting that the notice was sent to the insured (A9). However, its file contained no receipt showing that a Notice of Cancellation was also sent to the mortgagee (A10).

A fire occurred and partially destroyed the Fountainebleau on May 1, 1988. The mortgagee made a demand for payment under First State Insurance's property insurance policy. First State Insurance refused to pay, claiming that it had cancelled the policy. First State Insurance could provide no proof whatsoever that Cameron & Colby had actually sent a notice of cancellation to the mortgagee. It could only say that Cameron & Colby's normal procedure was to send notices of cancellation to mortgagees (Miller D41-42).

When First State Insurance refused to pay the mortgagee's claim for the fire damage, the mortgagee was forced to seek recovery under its Mortgagee and Fiduciary insurance policy with Fidelity & Deposit. That policy covered losses to the mortgagee's interest in property arising from a lack of insurance because of an "error or omission"

(A19-20). Although the mortgagee filed an errors and omissions claim under Fidelity & Deposit's policy, it still maintained that First State Insurance was primarily liable for payment for the fire loss under its property insurance policy (Robertson D34).

Fidelity & Deposit ultimately paid the mortgagee \$591,411.79 under its policy (Belstock D28-29,34), in return for which the mortgagee assigned to Fidelity & Deposit its right to recover under its policy with First State Insurance (A29-30, Penley D59). Fidelity & Deposit then sued First State Insurance to recoup the amount it had paid the mortgagee. One year into the discovery of the lawsuit, First State Insurance contended for the first time that oral Notice of Cancellation had been received by one of the mortgagee's employees from a third party four months after the policy was cancelled, and that that notice was sufficient. First State Insurance based this contention upon file notations of one of Commonwealth S&L's employees, Fern DiSario. She had worked for one year in the department handling the bank's loans or mortgages on commercial property, and testified that whenever she received a written notice cancelling insurance on any commercial property she would act upon it immediately (DiSario D9,13-14,17). Ms. DiSario was responsible for seeing that insurance was maintained on the bank's mortgaged property. If the mortgagor did not obtain other insurance coverage, she would do so and charge the mortgagor for it (DiSario D68-70).

Ms. DiSario's file notations indicated that she had received a telephone call on February 11, 1988 from a third party, i.e., Louisa Diaz, an employee of the insurance agent for the mortgagor, Fountainebleau. Ms. Diaz happened to mention to Ms. DiSario

that the Fountainebleau's insurance had been cancelled by First State Insurance four months earlier, in October, 1987 (DiSario D63-64). Ms. DiSario did not know whether this was true or not (DiSario D76). When she contacted the mortgagor, he did not indicate that he was without insurance coverage (DiSario D67). Rather, he simply told her he was "trying to place a new policy" on the Fountainebleau (DiSario D76), and that he would get back with her (DiSario D78). Ms. DiSario did not know whether, in fact, Fountainebleau's insurance coverage had been cancelled (DiSario D75-76). She also did not think that a "verbal cancellation" could cancel coverage as to the mortgagee's interest (DiSario D67). At the time her deposition was taken, Ms. DiSario stated that she had apprised her supervisor of what Ms. Diaz had told her, but she could not remember whether she had taken any other action regarding the insurance (DiSario D79-80,86-87). She left the bank's employment in March, 1988 (DiSario D5), and did not recall whether she diaried the matter for her replacement to check to see if Fountainebleau had ever obtained a new insurance policy (DiSario D87).

Ms. DiSario explained that the mortgagee-bank had a procedure to follow once a written notice of cancellation of insurance was received for property on which the bank held a mortgage (DiSario D17). However, that procedure anticipated receipt of a written Notice of Cancellation, at which time that notice and the bank's file relating to the underlying mortgage, would be placed in a particular location so that Ms. DiSario would continue to check on the matter until it was resolved (DiSario D20). The bank's

procedure would not necessarily be activated based upon something a <u>third party</u> told Ms. DiSario <u>orally</u> about insurance coverage (Robertson D57).

CERTIFIED QUESTION

MAY A MORTGAGEE WHO RECEIVES ACTUAL NOTICE OF THE CANCELLATION OF A POLICY OF INSURANCE ON THE MORTGAGED PROPERTY BE ESTOPPED FROM RELYING ON THE STATUTORY AND CONTRACTUAL PROVISIONS REQUIRING WRITTEN NOTICE?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The certified question should be answered in the negative. The Fourth District's change in the law to allow oral notice of cancellation on behalf of an insurer should be reversed. The Fourth District's ruling is contrary to the requirements of First State Insurance's own insurance policy, the applicable Florida statutes and well-established case law. Heretofore, if an insurer in this State wished to cancel an insurance policy, it had to strictly comply with its policy provisions, and with the Florida Statutes, regarding cancellation. Even the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that there was a disputed issue of fact as to whether First State Insurance had done so here. Accordingly, the Fourth District erred in directing that judgment be entered in First State Insurance's favor because of oral notice of cancellation, which was not allowed under either First State Insurance's policy or the Florida Statutes.

Oral cancellation of insurance policies by insurers can only lead to abuses and uncertainties. That is exactly what the well-established body of law in this area of insurance law, which requires strict compliance with the terms of insurance policies and statutes regarding cancellation, was designed to prevent. The Fourth District's decision clearly constitutes a setback for Florida's consumers in the area of cancellation of their insurance policies. This Court should return the Florida consumers' rights regarding cancellation of their insurance policies to the position they were in before the Fourth District's decision.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT REGARDING COURT'S JURISDICTION

The certified question is indeed one of great public importance. The Fourth District has changed the law in this State in a fashion that will open the floodgates of litigation on the issue of cancellation of insurance policies. Heretofore, when an insurance policy required written notice of cancellation a certain number of days prior to cancellation, that is exactly what was required. The Fourth District has now held that even though a question of fact exists as to whether written notice of cancellation was given by an insurer, as required by the insurance policy and Florida Statutes, judgment should be entered for the insurer because the mortgagee's employee was given oral notice by a third party, not even the insurer, four months after the cancellation. Oral notice of cancellation by an insurer has never been sufficient in this State.

It has previously been very easy for the parties to an insurance contract, and the courts, to determine whether proper notice of cancellation was given by an insurer. The notice requirements in the policy and in the statutes had to be strictly complied with by the insurer or the cancellation was ineffective. Written notice of cancellation by the insurer, even if defective in some respects, was always required. The Fourth District has now held that <u>oral</u> notice is sufficient. Accordingly, in the future there will have to be a trial under a myriad of factual circumstances in order to resolve whether oral, rather than written, notice was actually given. The Fourth District's ruling makes an insurance agent's testimony that he or she called an insured and cancelled their insurance policy over the telephone sufficient to effectively cancel the policy, despite the fact that the

insurance policy and the applicable statutes require written notice of cancellation. Cases in which the result was clear before because written notice of cancellation was not given as required by the policy, are now unclear. An insured/mortgagee¹ in this State is no longer entitled to rely upon clear contract provisions requiring written cancellation of their insurance policies prior to the policy's cancellation.

¹/A mortgagee under an insurance policy is an "insured" with independent rights not derived from the rights of the named insured. STATE FARM FIRE & CAS. v. AETNA FIRE, 413 So.2d 144 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982); NATIONAL CASUALTY CO. v. GENERAL MOTOR ACCEPT. CORP., 161 So.2d 848 (Fla. 1st DCA 1964).

ARGUMENT

Oral Notice of Cancellation is Insufficient to Cancel the Policy on Behalf of the Insurer

For the first time in this State, the Fourth District has held that <u>oral</u> notice of cancellation of an insurance policy four months after the policy was cancelled, given not by the insurer, but by a third party, satisfied the insurer's obligation to give <u>written</u> notice of cancellation required by its policy language (A32):

- f. If we cancel this policy, we will give written notice to the mortgage holder at least:
- (1) 10 days before the effective date of cancellation if we cancel for non-payment of premium; or
- (2) 30 days before the effective date of cancellation if we cancel for any other reason. (emphasis added).

The court also held that oral notice satisfied the insurer's obligation to give written notice of cancellation required by Florida Statutes. Section 627.848(5) Fla. Stat. applies here and imposes a statutory requirement that contractual restrictions regarding notice to a mortgagee must be complied with when cancellation of insurance is effected.² It further provides that the insurer, "in accordance with such <u>prescribed</u> notice [written notice 10 days before cancellation] ...<u>shall</u> give notice to...such mortgagee".

The Fourth District's ruling that oral notice of cancellation is sufficient to estop an insured or mortgagee from insisting upon written notice of cancellation, which is

²/Section 627.848 applies to cancellation of insurance policies where premiums for the insurance policy are financed be a premium finance company, as here (Miller D13).

clearly required by the insurance policy and by Florida Statutes, overlooks the following black-letter law: An insurer's right to cancel an insurance policy must be carried out in strict compliance with statutory directions, SENTRY INSURANCE v. BROWN, 424 So.2d 780 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), and in strict compliance with the terms of its policy in order to effectively accomplish the cancellation. BRADLEY v. ASSOCIATES DISCOUNT CORP., 58 So.2d 857 (Fla. 1952). Restrictions placed upon insurance companies in cancelling or failing to renew existing insurance policies call for a broad or liberal interpretation favoring the insured (here mortgagee). SENTRY INS. v. BROWN, 424 So.2d at 783.

An insurer's duty to send the proper cancellation notice to its insured in the form required by statute or its contract cannot be delegated to a third person. DON SLACK INS., INC. v. FIDELITY & CASUALTY CO., 385 So.2d 1061 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980). See for example MARTIN v. RITCHESON, 306 So.2d 582 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976), where the court held that since §627.728 required that a notice of cancellation of an automobile insurance policy be "mailed or delivered by the insurer" it was irrelevant that the insured had received a notice of cancellation from the premium finance company. Florida case law has always been very clear that if an insurer does not adhere to its own contractual requirements, and statutory requirements, for cancellation of its insurance policy, the purported cancellation is ineffective. HUNSUCKER v. ARROW INS., 242 So.2d 205 (Fla. 1st DCA 1970)l; and MARTIN v. RITCHESON, supra.

The above cases clearly hold that in order to effectively cancel insurance in Florida, the insurer must strictly comply with both the statutory provisions regarding cancellation, and its own policy cancellation provisions. Where written notice is required by the insurance policy and the applicable Florida Statutes, anything less is ineffective to cancel the policy. Accordingly, the Fourth District erred in relying upon FRAZIER v. STANDARD GUARANTY INS. CO., 382 So.2d 392 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980) to conclude that oral notice of cancellation is sufficient. In FRAZIER, the insurer mailed a notice of cancellation to its insured pursuant to a statute requiring the notice to be mailed to the address shown in the policy. The insurer failed to properly address the notice, however, since the apartment number was omitted from the address. The trial court determined that the insured had actually received the written notice of cancellation, notwithstanding its improper address.

The insured appealed, arguing that his actual receipt of the written notice of cancellation was immaterial because it was not sent to the address required by the statute. He relied upon a Michigan case, DORSEY v. MICHIGAN MUTUAL LIABILITY CO., 250 N.W.2d 143 (Mich. 1976), where the insurer had mailed a notice of cancellation by first class mail, rather than by certified mail, return receipt requested, as required by a Michigan statute. Even though the insured actually admitted receiving the Notice of Cancellation, the Michigan appellate court concluded that it was ineffective since the insurer had not strictly complied with the notice requirements of cancellation statute. The court based its ruling upon the fact that the purpose of the notice statute

went beyond that case, and that it was to avoid embroiling the courts in needless litigation on the issue of whether written cancellation notices had in fact been received.

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