FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 24 1995

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CLEF	RK, SUP	REME	COURT
Ву	Chief De		. بر پر پر پر پر پر ان کا کا داند
	Chief De	puty Cla	rk.

CASE NO. 84,791

FIDELITY AND DEPOSIT COMPANY OF MARYLAND, as subrogee of COMMONWEALTH FEDERAL SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATION

Petitioner,

VS.

FIRST STATE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent

ON APPEAL FROM THE

FLORIDA FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

WEST PALM BEACH, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, FIRST STATE INSURANCE COMPANY

PAUL B. BUTLER, JR., ESQUIRE

Florida Bar No.: 0245844

WILLIAM R. LEWIS, ESQUIRE

Florida Bar No.: 0879827

BUTLER, BURNETTE & PAPPAS

6200 Courtney Campbell Causeway

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Fourth District Court of Appeal properly held that actual notice to COMMONWEALTH was sufficient to meet the underlying purpose of the statutory and contractual notice requirements. There is no dispute over the fact that COMMONWEALTH received "actual notice" prior to the loss that the policy of insurance was cancelled for nonpayment of premium. The method of notification is irrelevant in this regard. Florida courts indicate the keystone in such cases is whether notice itself is given and not the method of notice. Thus, FIRST STATE's cancellation of this policy was not in violation of Florida Statute § 627.848 and the insurance policy provisions. The purpose and spirit of the statute and contractual provisions have indisputably been met.

Contrary to FIDELITY AND DEPOSIT's contentions, FOUNTAINEBLEAU cancelled the policy. Under the terms of the contract, FIRST STATE was not required to give notice to the mortgagee when the <u>insured</u> cancelled the policy.

Finally, the policy by its own terms had expired prior to the loss. The fire which forms the basis of this claim occurred more than thirty (30) days after the applicable expiration date of this policy. COMMONWEALTH had actual notice of the cancellation of the policy forty-nine (49) days before its stated expiration and either intentionally or inadvertently failed to obtain new insurance and, thus, by its own actions allowed the policy to expire by its own terms notwithstanding the cancellation issue. No recovery can be had under a policy which has expired by its own terms prior to a loss.

12

Doc:LAF/48466

ARGUMENT

I. THE FLORIDA FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY HELD THAT ACTUAL NOTICE OF CANCELLATION WAS SUFFICIENT TO EFFECTIVELY SATISFY ANY STATUTORY AND CONTRACTUAL REQUIREMENTS.

The Florida Fourth District Court of Appeal properly held that where it was undisputed that "actual notice" was received, and there was no contention to the contrary, "actual notice" of cancellation is

sufficient to comply with the statutory and contractual requirements.

There is no dispute that COMMONWEALTH received actual notice on February 11, 1988, that the policy of insurance was cancelled in October 1987, for nonpayment of premium. (R.199-206). affidavit submitted FIDELITY AND sworn to COMMONWEALTH admitted it knew on February 11, 1988, that coverage had been cancelled for nonpayment of premium. In that same sworn affidavit, COMMONWEALTH admitted that Fern DiSario, the person responsible for insurance on mortgaged property, and Keith Schleicher, her supervisor, neglected to obtain other insurance knowing that the COMMONWEALTH policy had been cancelled. (R. Suppl., Exhibit 1 to the Deposition of Dennis Penley). It was for this very reason that COMMONWEALTH submitted a claim to its Errors and Omissions insurance carrier, FIDELITY AND DEPOSIT, and accepted from FIDELITY AND DEPOSIT the full amount of the loss. (R. Suppl., Exhibit 9 to the Deposition of Leonard Belstock).

Under Florida law, strict statutory compliance is not always required. Florida courts have found statutory compliance to occur when the spirit of the statute has been met. This issue was recently addressed in *Teachers Insurance Co. v. Bollman*, 617 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993). In *Teachers*, the Second District Court of Appeal held that the insured's memorandum

to an agent directing the agent to change the policies from stacked coverage to unstacked was satisfactory, notwithstanding the fact that a statutorily prescribed form was not used. The Court held that even though the insured's written rejection was not on the statutorily prescribed form it did not undermine its effect, i.e., "demonstrating a knowing rejection of uninsured motorist coverage." The Second District Court of Appeal found that the "spirit" and purpose of the statute had been met.

Similarly, in *Frazier v. Standard Guaranty Insurance Co.*, 382 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980), an insurer brought a declaratory judgment action to determine whether a policy was in effect. The insurance company had attempted to cancel an automobile liability policy because the insured never provided the insurer with a drivers license number which was one of the insurer's requirements. The insurance company mailed the Notice of Cancellation to an incomplete address, leaving out the insured's apartment number. The insured testified that he never received the notice. However, the facts at trial supported a finding that the insured did receive "actual notice." Nevertheless, the insured argued that there had been a failure to comply specifically with the terms of the policy because the address was incomplete and, therefore, there had been a failure to give the statutorily prescribed notice properly mailed to the last known address of the insured.

The insured in *Frazier* relied on a Michigan appellate decision, *Dorsey v. Michigan Mutual Liability Co.*, 250 N.W.2d 143 (Mich. 1976), which held there must be strict compliance with the statute before cancellation is effected. The Michigan court held actual notice is immaterial if there has been noncompliance with the statute. Significantly, the *Frazier* court refused to adopt the *Dorsey* reasoning and stated:

It can be seen from the foregoing that while the insurer did not properly address the notice of cancellation by omitting the apartment number, the record reflects substantial competent evidence that Frazier actually received the notice. The sole issue before us is whether actual notice is sufficient notice of cancellation. . . . While the insured's position and the logic of the Michigan court are appealing, we nevertheless reject their conclusions. The better conclusion, we are convinced, is that actual notice is sufficient notice. . . . Notice, not the method of the notice, is the keystone of the statute. . . .

Our holding is consistent with the underlying purpose of notice of cancellation, which is to enable the insured to obtain other insurance "before he is subjected to risk without protection." Cat 'N Fiddle, Inc. v. Century Insurance Co., 213 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1968), judgment conformed to 214 So. 2d 503 (Fla. 3d DCA 1968) (emphasis supplied).

Id. at 394-5.

The decision of the Florida Supreme Court in Cat 'N Fiddle, Inc. v. Century Insurance Co., 213 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1968), a case cited by the Frazier Court and, interestingly relied upon by COMMONWEALTH in its Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and its underlying brief, concerned a fire insurance policy. The insurer had directed a notice of cancellation to the insurance agent, and the agent never communicated this to the insured in accordance with the policy provisions. The main issue debated by the Court was that of agency and the agent's apparent authority to accept notice of cancellation on behalf of the insured. In Cat 'N Fiddle, the Supreme Court of Florida echoed the policy reasons for requiring that a notice of cancellation be given to an insured and stated:

The purpose of a provision in an insurance policy providing that the insurer can cancel the policy after giving notice to the insured for a prescribed period, is to enable the insured to obtain insurance elsewhere before he is subjected to risk without protection.

Cat 'N Fiddle, 213 So. 2d at 704.

Petitioner cites *Hunsucker v. Arrow, Ins.*, 242 So. 2d 205 (Fla. 1st DCA 1970), for the proposition that strict adherence to policy conditions regarding cancellation is mandatory. However, *Hunsucker* based its holding on the general principle cited above which states that the purpose of the statutory and contractual provisions is to enable the insured to obtain insurance elsewhere. The *Hunsucker* court held:

Thus, the legislative scheme is clearly designed to require that the insurance company apprise the insured of his rights of recourse prior to the cancellation becoming effective.

There is no dispute that COMMONWEALTH knew of the cancellation 79 days before the fire and over 30 days before the policy expired by its own terms. Rather than obtain replacement insurance, COMMONWEALTH through its employee DiSario, chose to rely on the insured to obtain other insurance. (Deposition of Fern DiSario, P. 75-76; R 199-206).

Petitioner further contends that Nu-Air Manufacturing Co. v. Frank B. Hall & Co. of New York, 822 F. 2d 987 (11th Cir. 1987), and Graves v. Iowa Mutual Insurance Co., 132 So. 2d 393 (Fla. 1961), supports the proposition that "actual notice" is insufficient. However, in Nu-Air the court held that:

Notice must clearly convey to the insured the fact of termination so that he may obtain other insurance and avoid being subject to risk without coverage.

This policy rationale was satisfied here where the mortgagee had 79 days to procure alternate coverage. Finally, in *Graves* the court implied that cancellation was only improper because the "insured never received actual notice of cancellation." Implicit in this holding is that cancellation would have been proper if "actual notice" had been given to the insured.

No Florida case has ever found that "actual notice" is insufficient to cancel the policy, as long as the insured is given sufficient time to procure insurance. In the instant case, there has never been any contention, nor can there be, that the cancellation with regard to the insured was improper. The insured was clearly given sufficient time to procure insurance prior to the loss. Similarly, COMMONWEALTH, even assuming that the allegations regarding written notice are true, was given sufficient time, through actual notice, to procure insurance for the insured. In fact, COMMONWEALTH admitted that it erred in failing to procure insurance when it had an opportunity to do so. This fact was confirmed when COMMONWEALTH filed its claim with it Errors and Omissions carrier.

Clearly, COMMONWEALTH, the mortgagee, could have obtained insurance elsewhere, but sat on its opportunity to do so. COMMONWEALTH's Errors and Omission carrier, through this subrogation action, now attempts to shift the blame to FIRST STATE.² This Court should affirm the Fourth District Court of Appeal's holding and find that an undisputed receipt of "actual notice" was sufficient to cancel the policy.³

¹ In fact, the Appellate Court in *Cooke v. Insurance Company of North America*, 603 So. 2d 520 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992) *modified on other grounds*, 624 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1993), implied that actual notice may be proper if the insured is given sufficient time to procure alternative insurance.

² The only claim remaining is the subrogation claim of FIRST STATE. Although the record shows COMMONWEALTH initially pursued a claim for what it contended were uninsured losses, that claim was dismissed with prejudice following an amicable resolution between it and FIRST STATE. Florida law has traditionally held that an insurer cannot avoid its assumed risk by paying on the claim and later suing another insurer based on its insureds own negligence. *Dixie National Bank v. Employers Commercial Union Insurance Company*, 463 So. 2d 1147 (Fla. 1985).

³ It should be noted that contrary to Petitioners contention, even if this court were to hold that cancellation must be received before an effective cancellation, this fact alone would not

II. CONTRARY TO PETITIONER'S CONTENTIONS, FOUNTAINEBLEAU, THE INSURED, NOT FIRST STATE, CANCELLED THE POLICY. HENCE, FIRST STATE WAS NOT REQUIRED TO SEND A NOTICE OF CANCELLATION.

Essentially, Petitioner's argument is based on, and revolves around, the following statement contained in its Initial Brief: "Section 627.848(5), Fla. Stat. applies here and imposes a statutory requirement that contractual restrictions regarding notice to a mortgagee must be complied with when cancellation of insurance is effected." The premise of Petitioner's argument is that a provision of the policy requires the insurer to give written notice to the mortgagee prior to cancellation of the insurance policy. Petitioner's contentions are meritless.

On September 22, 1987, TIFCO, FOUNTAINEBLEAU's premium finance company, sent a notice of cancellation on behalf of FOUNTAINEBLEAU to FIRST STATE requesting that the policy be cancelled. This notice of cancellation was sent pursuant to the authority set forth in section 627.848, Florida Statutes, after FOUNTAINEBLEAU failed to make timely premium payments to TIFCO. Section 627.848, Fla. Stat., provides in pertinent part:

627.848. Cancellation of insurance contract upon default

When a premium finance agreement contains a power of attorney or other authority enabling the premium finance company to cancel any insurance contract listed in the agreement, the insurance contract shall not be canceled unless cancellation is in accordance with the following provisions:

(4) Upon receipt of a copy of the cancellation notice by the insurer or insurers, the insurance contract shall be canceled with the same force and effect as if the notice of cancellation had been submitted by the insured himself,

create coverage for the instant loss. Generally, when notice is improper, the policy remains in effect only for the specified number of days required by the statute or contract for cancellation. See generally section 627.4133(1)(e) Fla. Stat. and section 626.9201(3) Fla. Stat. Thus, even if notice is deemed to have been received by the mortgagee on February 11, 1988, the policy would have remained in force, at most until February 21, 1988. Because the loss occurred several months later, coverage was properly denied.

without requiring any further notice to the insured or the return of the insurance contract.

(5) All statutory, regulatory, and contractual restrictions providing that the insured may not cancel his insurance contract unless he or the insurer first satisfies such restrictions by giving a prescribed notice to a governmental agency, the insurance carrier, a mortgagee, an individual, or a person designated to receive such notice for such governmental agency, insurance carrier, or individual shall apply when cancellation is effected under the provisions of this section. The insurer, in accordance with such prescribed notice when it is required to give such notice in behalf of itself or the insured, shall give notice to such governmental agency, person, mortgagee, or individual; and it shall determine and calculate the effective date of cancellation from the day it receives the copy of the notice of cancellation from the premium finance company.

(emphasis supplied).

Section 627.848(5), Florida Statutes, provides that all contractual restrictions providing that the <u>insured</u> may not cancel his insurance unless he satisfies certain contractual restrictions by giving notice to a mortgagee shall apply when cancellation is effected under section 627.848, i.e. when a premium finance company cancels the policy. Essentially, section 627.848(5) provides that cancellation of an insurance policy by a premium finance company is tantamount to cancellation by the insured and that any requirements the <u>insured</u> would have had to comply with if the <u>insured</u> had cancelled the policy are equally applicable when the premium finance company cancels the policy on behalf of the insured.⁴ Thus, under the first sentence of section

⁴ Florida law holds that a cancellation by the premium finance company is equivalent to a cancellation by the insured, at least from the insurer's perspective. *Tate v. Hamilton Insurance Co.*, 466 So. 2d 1205 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985). In *Tate*, the court stated: "Where the finance company is named as attorney-in-fact for the insured, a cancellation by the finance company is equivalent to a cancellation by the insured himself, at least from the insurer's perspective." The Florida Legislature's most recent amendment to 627.848 clearly indicates their support of the holding in *Tate*. It is clear, based on the statute's new language, that the law in Florida remains the same and recognizes an insurance company's right to treat cancellation by a premium finance company as being identical to cancellation by the insured itself. This is evidenced by the following revision to subsection (4) now designated subsection (c):

627.848(5), Fla. Stat., when cancellation is accomplished by a premium finance company, all contractual restrictions in the insurance policy applicable when the <u>insured</u> cancels the policy are equally applicable when the premium finance company cancels the policy. The key to the first sentence of section 627.848(5), Fla. Stat., and to Petitioner's arguments on appeal, is that there must be a contractual provision requiring notice to the mortgagee when the <u>insured</u> cancels the policy.

The instant policy contains two cancellation provisions. One provision applies to cancellations by the insured⁵ and one applies to cancellation by the insurer.⁶ Under the policy

A. CANCELLATION

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